2010-CA-6837

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

Falanda Wilson v. Baptist Memorial Hospital-North Mississippi, Inc., et.al. 2010-

CA-00683

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons and entities as described in the fourth sentence of Rule 28(a)(1) have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the judges of this court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Falanda Wilson

Appellant

Baptist Memorial Hospital-North Mississippi, Inc. Appellees

Jane Doe

Carlos E. Moore

Attorneys for the Appellant

Tangala L. Hollis

Kate M. Embry, Esq.

Attorneys for the Appellees

John H. Dunbar, Esq.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Issue 1

Whether Appellant was a public invitee at the time of her injury, and owed a duty of reasonable care by the Appellees, to inspect for dangerous conditions, and to warn of dangerous conditions not obvious to Appellant; and thereby, the breach of said duty proximately caused Appellant's injuries.

II. Issue 2

Whether, if determined to be a licensee at the time of her injury, Appellant was owed a duty by Appellees to warn of dangerous conditions not likely to be discovered by Appellant, and to exercise reasonable care in conduct of activities; and thereby, the breach of said duty proximately caused Appellant's injuries.

II. Issue 3

Whether Appellant is required to show proof of wanton or willful injury, if Appellees' actions fall under the simple or affirmative negligence exception to the general rule that the only duty owed a licensee is to refrain from willfully and wantonly injuring the individual.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a premises liability case on appeal from an Order of the Circuit Court of Lafayette County, granting summary judgment to Appellees.

On or about June 3, 2007, Appellant Falanda Wilson (hereinafter Appellant Wilson) was visiting a friend at Baptist Memorial Hospital – North Mississippi, Inc. located at Highway 7 South, Oxford, MS 38655. Appellant Wilson was leaving the friend's room on the 5th floor and fell in a puddle of water near the 5th floor nurses' station. Appellees, Baptist Memorial Hospital – North Mississippi, Inc. and Jane Doe (hereinafter collectively Appellees), did not have a wet floor sign in the area. Appellant Wilson suffered injuries as a result of the fall on Appellees' wet floor.

As a result of the foregoing, Appellant Wilson filed her original Complaint on the basis of premises liability in the Circuit Court of Lafayette County against Appellees on or about May 20, 2009. (Rec. p.1-5). Appellant Wilson filed an Amended Complaint on or about June 3, 2009. (Rec. p.6-10). Appellees filed their Answer to Appellant Wilson's Amended Complaint on or about June 19, 2009, in which they admitted Appellant Wilson fell on their premises, and that there was no "wet floor" sign in the area in which Appellant Wilson fell. (Rec. 12).

Appellees subsequently filed for summary judgment in the Circuit Court of Lafayette County. (Rec. p.98-154) On or about February 18, 2010, Appellant Wilson filed her Response in Opposition to Appellees Motion for Summary Judgment with Memorandum of Laws opposing the same. (Rec. p.168-176). Appellant Wilson also filed an Affidavit in Opposition of Summary Judgment. (Rec. 197-198). The matter came on

hearing before Circuit Court Judge Henry Lackey March 4, 2010. Judge Lackey took the matter under advisement and subsequently and erroneously granted Appellees Motion for Summary Judgment March 26, 2010. (Rec. 206).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant Wilson was a public invitee at the time of her injury. As an invitee, she was owed a duty by Appellees to use reasonable care, to inspect for dangerous conditions, and to warn of dangerous conditions not obvious to Appellant Wilson. Appellees breached said duty when they negligently left a puddle of water on the floor, and did not warn Appellant Wilson of the dangerous condition. Further, as a public facility, the subject hospital certainly provides an implied or expressed invitation to the public to enter its premises for their mutual advantage.

Even if determined to be a licensee at the time of her injury, Appellant Wilson was owed a duty by Appellees to warn of dangerous conditions not likely to be discovered by Appellant, and to exercise reasonable care in conduct of activities. While there is no duty to inspect, as with invitees, an owner does owe unto a licensee the duty to use reasonable care, and to warn of dangerous conditions not likely to be discovered. Appellees breached said duty when they failed to warn Appellant Wilson of the wet floor, which was not readily discoverable to her.

Finally, if determined to be a licensee, Appellant Wilson falls under the simple negligence or affirmative negligence exception to the general rule that the only duty owed a licensee is to refrain from willfully and wantonly injuring the individual. Appellees were aware of Appellant Wilson's presence on the premises, and yet engaged in affirmative or active negligence.

ARGUMENT

The appellate court employs a de novo standard of review of a lower court's grant or denial of summary judgment and the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom motion for summary judgment has been made. Jackpot Mississippi Riverboat, Inc. v. Smith, 874 So.2d 959 (Miss. 2004) citing Mississippi Dept. of Wildlife, Fisheries and Parks v. Mississippi Wildlife, 740 So.2d 925 (Miss. 1999); McCullough v. Cook, 679 So.2d 627 (Miss. 1996); Mantachie Natural Gas Dist. v. Mississippi Valley Gas Co., 594 So.2d 1170 (Miss. 1992); Clark v. Moore Memorial United Methodist Church, 538 So.2d 760 (Miss. 1989); Rules Civ. Proc., Rule 56(c).

I. Appellant Wilson was an invitee at the time of her injury and Defendants were not entitled to summary judgment.

Hospitals are public places and thus visitors entering hospitals are public invitees. A "public invitee" is a person who is invited to enter or remain on land as a member of the public for a purpose for which the land is held open to the public. *Hudson v. Courtesy Motors, Inc.*, 794 So.2d 999 (Miss. 2001); *Alexander v. Jackson County Historical Soc., Inc.*, 227 So.2d 291 (1969)(held that a woman injured while visiting the Old Spanish Fort, an historical spot, belonged to that class of invitees known as "public invitees" because she was invited to enter and remain on the land as a member of the public for the purpose for which the land was held open to the public). As in *Alexander*, hospitals are held open to the public for the purposes of people visiting their loved ones. This is evidenced by the gift shops, cafeterias, vending machines, visiting hours policy, etc in

hospitals. It is expected and anticipated that members of the public will enter hospitals to visit their loved ones. As a result, visitors are public invitees.

While visiting her friend at the hospital, Appellant Wilson was certainly in the position to take advantage of the aforementioned amenities. Whether she partook of such amenities is irrelevant, as a person shopping in Wal-Mart does not lose his or her status as an invitee, simply because he or she does not make a purchase. If the person injured on premises is an invitee, the property owner is under a duty to have the premises in a reasonably safe condition for use in a manner consistent with the invitation or at least a duty not to lead plaintiff into a dangerous trap or expose him to unreasonable risk. Hoffman v. Planters Gin Co., 358 So.2d 1008, 1011 (Miss. 1998). Appellees breached their duty owed to Appellant Wilson by failing to post a sign warning Appellant Wilson of the water on the floor. Owner, occupant, or person in charge of premises owes to invitee or business visitor a duty to exercise ordinary care to keep premises in reasonably safe condition or to warn invitee of dangerous conditions, not readily apparent, which owner or occupier knows of or should know of in exercise of reasonable care, and when dangerous condition is traceable to proprietor's own negligence, no knowledge of its existence need be shown. Anderson v. B. H. Acquisition, Inc., 771 So.2d 914 (Miss. 2000). In other words, even if the Appellees did not have actual knowledge of the water on the floor, they are still liable if they have "constructive knowledge" of the dangerous condition, based on the length of time the condition existed. Id. at 918. In the instant case under Anderson, whether Appellees created the dangerous condition that proximately caused Appellant Wilson's injuries, or had actual or constructive knowledge of said condition is a question for the jury; thus [summary judgment] is not appropriate.

as reasonable minds could differ. *Id.* at 919. The instant case is analogous to *Biloxi* Regional Medical Center v. David, 555 So.2d 53 (Miss. 2000), which was cited and referenced during the summary judgment motion hearing by Appellant Wilson's counsel.

In *David*, a woman brought suit for damages due to injuries she sustained as a result of tripping over a raised piece of concrete in the parking lot of the Biloxi Regional Medical Center after visiting her husband. *Id.* at 53. The trial court found in favor of the plaintiff (wife), and the medical center appealed. The medical center claimed the trial court erred in one of its instruction to the jury, which stated that the wife was a business invitee as a matter of law. *Id.* at 55-56. The jury instruction read as follows:

You are instructed by the Court that an invitee is a person who goes upon the premises of another in answer to the express or implied invitation of the owner, either on the business of the owner or for their mutual advantage. In this case, you are instructed as a matter of law that [the wife] was a business invitee on the hospital premises at the time of her accident on April 2, 1982.

A party in control or possession of premises is liable for injuries to an invitee caused by a dangerous condition on his premises if the owner knew or in the exercise of reasonable care should have known about the condition and failed to take measures reasonably calculated to remove the danger or warn the invitee of its existence. If you find from a preponderance of the evidence in this case that:

- 1. The Defendant, Biloxi Regional Medical Center, was in control or possession of the parking lot and pathway, and
- 2. The Plaintiff was on the Defendant's premises for a purpose consistent with the hospital business operated by the Defendant, and
- 3. The subject pathway constituted a dangerous condition upon the Defendant's premises, and
- 4. The Defendant knew or in the exercise of reasonable care should have known about the condition, and
- 5. The Defendant failed to take measures reasonably calculated to remove the danger, if any, or to warn the Plaintiff of its existence, and
- 6. The Defendant's failure to take such measures, if any, was the proximate cause or a contributing proximate cause of the Plaintiff's accident and injuries, then your verdict shall be for the Plaintiff.

Id. at 56.

The medical center specifically claimed that paragraph five imposed a higher duty than is required by law because no one testified that the raised piece of concrete was a concealed hazard or a danger. *Id.* The center further argues that even if it was an unreasonable hazard, it was not latent or concealed and therefore no warning was necessary. *Id.* However, the Mississippi Supreme Court disagreed with the medical center, citing its holding in *Bell v. City of Bay St. Louis*, 467 So.2d 657 (Miss. 1985), in which they held:

[C]onditions are not either open and obvious or not open and obvious. Common sense and experience negates an either or categorization of such conditions. Just how open and obvious a condition may have been is a question for the jury in all except the clearest of cases.

555 So.2d 53 at 56 citing Bell, 467 So.2d 657 at 664.

The Mississippi Supreme Court held that whether the piece of concrete was open and obvious was a question for the jury; therefore, the aforementioned jury instruction from the trial court designating the wife as an invitee was not error. *Id.* at 56. The Court also held that because the jury in the trial court found in the wife's favor, they obviously found that the hazard was concealed. *Id.* This Honorable Court should hold the same in the instant case.

Under *David* and *Bell*, Appellant Wilson was an invitee as a matter of law at the time of her injury. In examining the jury instructions in *David*, Appellant Wilson was an invitee at the time of her injury, and Appellees breached their duty to her, proximately causing her injuries. For instance, (1) Appellees were certainly in control and possession of the walkway, in which Appellant Wilson fell; (2) Appellant Wilson was on Appellees' premises visiting a friend, which is certainly consistent with the hospital business, as evidenced in specified visiting hours, gift shops, cafeteria, and other amenities for

visitors. Further, visitors contribute to the healing and convalescent process of patients, which is undoubtedly consistent with, and the priority of, hospital business; (3) the subject wet pathway or hallway constituted a dangerous condition upon Appellees' premises; (4) Appellees knew, or in the exercise of reasonable care, should have known about the condition, as said location of Appellant Wilson's fall was in the vicinity of the nurses' station, while nurses were present. Therefore, Appellees knew or should have known of the water on the floor. Appellant Wilson testified during her sworn deposition that she fell in close proximity to the nurses' station. (Rec. p. 148). Appellant Wilson also stated in her sworn Affidavit In Opposition of Summary Judgment that nurses were present at the nurses' station when she fell, and no sign was posted indicating the floor was wet. (Rec. p. 197); (5) Appellees failed to take measures reasonably calculated to remove the danger, and/or or to warn Appellant Wilson of its existence, as there was no wet floor sign posted, and the puddle was not removed until after Appellant Wilson was injured; and (6) Appellees' failure to take such measures, was certainly the proximate cause of Appellant Wilson's accident and injuries, as she would not have fallen on the wet floor, but for Appellees' failure to remove and/or warn of the dangerous condition. As an invitee, Appellant Wilson was owed a duty of reasonable care, and a duty to be warned of dangerous conditions not obvious to her that Appellees knew, or should have known of, and taken measures to warn, or otherwise resolve, said conditions. As a result, Appellant Wilson sustained injuries. Given the foregoing, a reasonable juror could certainly find due to the availability of hospital aforementioned amenities, such as gift shops, cafeterias, vending machines, visiting hours policy, Appellees conveyed an express or implied invitation to Appellant Wilson, designating her as an invitee. Whether

Appellees had actual or constructive knowledge of the dangerous condition also creates a genuine issue of material fact. Summary Judgment should not have been granted.

II. If determined to be a licensee, Appellant was owed a duty by Appellees to warn of dangerous conditions not likely to be discovered by Appellant, and to exercise reasonable care in conduct of activities.

Under Mississippi law, a licensee is one "who enters upon the property of another for his own convenience, pleasure or benefit, pursuant to the license or implied permission of the owner..." Vaughn ex rel. Vaughn v. Estate of Worrell, 828 So.2d 780 (Miss. 2002) citing Payne v. Rain Forest Nurseries, Inc., 540 So.2d 35 (Miss. 1989). The duty of landowner or possessor is not to maintain land in safe condition, but to disclose to licensee any concealed, dangerous conditions on premises of which owner has knowledge, and to exercise reasonable care to see that the licensee is aware of the danger. Marlon Inv. Co. v. Conner, 149 So.2d 312 (Miss. 1963)(held that under the evidence, the jury could find that the landowner had failed to use reasonable care to discover and to warn the plaintiff licensee of a dangerous condition and that even if the plaintiff was contributorily negligent in trying to ascend the stairs she would not be barred under the comparative negligence statute where the landowner had placed her in a concealed pitfall or trap). As in Marlon, the water on the floor of the hospital in the instant case was concealed to Appellant Wilson, as it is a clear substance, not visible to the naked eye. As a result, Appellees should have used reasonable care to warn Appellant Wilson of the danger. Posting a "Wet Floor" sign would certainly have been sufficient and effective. However, because Appellees failed to use reasonable care, their negligence proximately caused Appellant Wilson's injuries. Further, Appellees attempt to argue that Appellant Wilson was a licensee at the time of her injury, and she conferred no benefit upon the hospital.

While Appellant Wilson did not initially enter Appellees' premises as a patient, she did receive treatment at the premises following her injury. During the March 4, 2010 hearing on Appellees' Motion for Summary Judgment, counsel for Appellant Wilson conveyed this fact to the Court. See p.12-13 Transcript of Motion for Summary Judgment Hearing. Appellant Wilson also testifies to the same in her sworn Affidavit in Opposition to Summary Judgment (Rec. p. 198). As a result of visiting her friend on Appellees' premises, Appellant Wilson had the opportunity to observe Appellees' treatment and care procedures, and to make an informed decision of whether she desired to receive treatment on Appellees' premises. Appellant Wilson was certainly not required to treat on Appellees' premises, as she could have just as easily requested to be taken to the nearest alternative hospital. However, Appellant Wilson chose to receive treatment on Appellees' premises, after being injured on said premises due to Appellees' negligence, and therefore, did confer an economic benefit upon Appellees. Summary Judgment should not have been granted.

III. If Appellant Wilson is determined to be a licensee, the subject incident falls under the simple or affirmative negligence exception to the general rule regarding the only duty owed a licensee.

In Hoffman v. Planters Gin Co., Inc., 358 So.2d 1008 (Miss. 1978), the Mississippi Supreme Court set out an exception to the general rule that the duty owed a licensee is to refrain from willfully and wantonly injuring him:

We think the premises owner is liable for injury proximately caused by affirmative or active negligence in the operation or control of a business which subjects either licensee or invitee to unusual danger, or increases the hazard to

him, when his presence is known and that the standard of ordinary and reasonable care has application.

Vaughn, 828 So.2d 780 at 784 citing Hoffman 358 So.2d 1008 at 1013.

Appellees certainly knew of Appellant Wilson's presence on the property, and by their active negligence in not cleaning the water off the floor or posting a warning sign, Appellees subjected Appellant Wilson to an unusual danger, and proximately caused her injuries. The instant case is a clear example of the exception to the general rule that landowner owes licensee a bare duty to refrain from willfully or wantonly injuring him when landowner engages in active conduct and the licensee's presence is known to him; that exception is not applicable where the licensee is injured as a result of the condition of the premises for passive negligence. Lucas v. Buddy Jones Ford Lincoln Mercury, Inc. 518 So.2d 646 (Miss. 1988)(held Plaintiff's injury did not fall under simple negligence exception because ice Plaintiff fell on was obvious because it was as a result of a vicious ice storm). As mentioned above, the water and the floor of the hospital was not open and obvious to Appellant Wilson. Therefore, its presence does not qualify as passive negligence, but as simple negligence, as Appellees could have, and should have, taken reasonable measures to warn Appellant Wilson of the dangerous condition or to remedy the condition. Further, Appellees admitted in their Answer to Appellant Wilson' Amended Complaint that no "wet floor" sign was posted, demonstrating their affirmative negligence. (Rec. p. 12).

CONCLUSION

For the foregoing reasons, the Appellant, Falanda Wilson, is asking this Honorable Court to reverse Lafayette County Circuit Court's granting of summary

judgment, and to remand the case to the Lafayette County Circuit Court, as there exists genuine issues of material fact that should be decided by a jury.