IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CAUSE NO.: 2010-CA-00683

FALANDA WILSON

APPELLANT - PLAINTIFF

VS.

BAPTIST MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-NORTH MISSISSIPPI, INC.

APPELLEE - DEFENDANT

BRIEF OF APPELLEE, BAPTIST MEMORIAL HOSPITAL-NORTH MISSISSIPPI, INC.

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Prepared by:

John H. Dunbar, MSB # Kate Mauldin Embry, MSB Dunbar Davis, PLLC 324 Jackson Avenue East Oxford, MS 38655 (662) 281-0001

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal:

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

Instead, Plaintiff again makes general, unsupported allegations. For example, Plaintiff again referenced "visiting hours, gift shops, cafeteria, and other amenities," without citation to any supporting evidence in the record of the existence, purpose or operation of any such amenities on BMH-NM premises at any relevant time and without any evidence that BMH-NM would have benefited if Plaintiff had "taken advantage of" any such amenities. (Appellant Brief

at p. 12, ¶ 1). Plaintiff also states, "visitors contribute to the healing and convalescent process of patients, which is undoubtedly consistent with, and the priority of, hospital business," without any support in the record or otherwise. (Appellant Brief at p. 13).

The trial court appropriately found that Plaintiff was a licensee, not an invitee.

At the time of her fall, Plaintiff was not a patient, and she did not enter the premises seeking medical care or treatment. She had no business purpose for being on BMH-NM premises, and she conferred no benefit, realized or expected, to BMH-NM. Further, there is no evidence in the record that Plaintiff entered BMH-NM premises in response to an invitation, expressed or implied, by BMH-NM, as opposed to permission.

On appeal, Plaintiff cites <u>Biloxi Regional Med. Ctr. v. David</u>, 555 So. 2d 53 (Miss. 2000), as support for the argument that she was an invitee at the time of her fall. (Appellant Brief at pp. 11-12).

This Court's holding in <u>David</u> is not pertinent to the issues before the Court in this case. The plaintiff's status as an invitee or a licensee was not at issue before the Court in that case. Trial court's instruction that the plaintiff in that case was an invitee on hospital premises was not contested and the bases for that instruction were not before the Court. 555 So. 2d at 55-56. Rather, the Court considered, among other things, the defendant's objection to a jury instruction pertaining to the extent of the duty owed by the defendant to an invitee, an issue that is not before the Court in this case. *Id*.

Step 2: Duty

The general duty owed to a licensee is to refrain from willfully or wantonly injuring the licensee. Corley, 835 So. 2d at 39; Green v. Dalewood Property Owners Ass'n, Inc., 919 So. 2d

1000, 1006 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005); Cook v. Stringer, 764 So.2d 481, 483 (Miss. Ct. App. 2000).

This Court carved out an exception to the general duty owed a licensee in Hoffman v. Planters Gin Co., 358 So. 2d 1008 (Miss. 1978), and applied the duty of ordinary reasonable care rather than the standard of willful or wanton negligence. The Court held that the premises owner is liable for injury proximately caused by the owner's active or affirmative negligence in the operation or control of activities which subjects a licensee to unusual danger or increases the hazard to the licensee when the presence of the licensee is known. 358 So. 2d at 1013. The Court "carefully limited the new standard of care to those cases involving injury resulting from active conduct as distinguished from conditions on the premises, or passive negligence." Titus v. Williams, 844 So. 2d 459, 465 (Miss. 2003).

This case does not fall within the "simple negligence exception" carved out in Hoffman.

In order for the exception to apply, Plaintiff was required to show (1) active negligence by BMH-NM that subjected Plaintiff to unusual danger and proximately caused injury to her and (2) that the presence of Plaintiff was known to BMH-NM. *See* Hoffman, 358 So. 2d at 1013; Scott Paper Co., 684 F. Supp. at 1395.

In her Response to BMH-NM's Motion for Summary Judgment, Plaintiff averred that she "is not required to show proof of wanton or willful injury, because if [the] Court finds that Plaintiff was of licensee status, Defendants' actions fall under the simple negligence exception to duty owed licensee." [R. 168, at ¶ 3].

Plaintiff's unsupported assertion was not sufficient to create an issue of fact as to duty. See Magee, 551 So. 2d at 186.

Further, Plaintiff claims that her fall was caused by a condition of the premises, liquid on the floor. [R. 8 at ¶ 11].

The record contains no evidence of affirmative or active negligence by BMH-NM.

It is well recognized by Mississippi courts that this "simple negligence exception" to the duty owed to a licensee "is limited to those cases involving injury resulting from active conduct as distinguished from conditions of premises or passive negligence." Saucier, 708 So. 2d 1351 (emphasis in original) (internal quotations omitted); See Lucas, 518 So. 2d at 648 ("This exception is not applicable where the licensee is injured as a result of the condition of the premises, or passive negligence."); Adams v. Fred's Dollar Store of Batesville, 497 So. 2d 1097, 1101 (Miss. 1986) ("This exception has no application where the licensee is injured as a result of the condition of the premises, or passive negligence."); Hughes v. Star Homes, Inc., 379 So. 2d 301, 304 (Miss. 1980) (holding that the exception has no application where the licensee is injured as a result of the condition of the premises, or passive negligence).

Passive negligence is "the failure to do something that should have been done." <u>Titus</u>, 844 So. 2d at 466 (quoting Black's Law Dictionary 718 (6th ed. 1991)). "One is only passively negligent if he merely fails to act in fulfillment of duty of care which law imposes upon him." *Id*.

On appeal, Plaintiff states, without citation to the record or supporting authority, "Appellees certainly knew of Appellant Wilson's presence on the property, and by their active negligence in not cleaning the water off the floor or posting a warning sign, Appellees subjected Appellant Wilson to an unusual danger and proximately caused her injuries." (Appellant Brief at p. 16, ¶ 1 (emphasis added)).

Plaintiff's allegations of failure by BMH-NM to clean the water off of the floor or post a warning sign are at most allegations of passive negligence.

Mississippi courts have held the exception inapplicable in cases involving claims of failure to warn of a dangerous condition on the premises. *See* Adams, 497 So. 2d at 1101 (discussed hereinbelow); Scott Paper Co., 684 F. Supp. 1392 (discussed hereinbelow).

The plaintiff in Adams brought a claim against Fred's Dollar Store after she struck a concrete slab with her vehicle in the store's parking lot, which was not illuminated or marked. 497 So. 2d at 1101. The Mississippi Supreme Court held, "[a]ny negligence here was passive at most, and thus does not fall within the exception." *Id*.

The plaintiff in <u>Scott Paper Co.</u> brought a claim against a property owner after the plaintiff injured himself diving into a water-filled gravel pit. 684 F. Supp. at 1396. The United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi stated, "[t]hat defendant failed to discover the presence of [plaintiff] or others on its property and failed to discover the existence of and/or use of a water-filled gravel pit as a swimming and diving area could conceivably amount, at most, only to passive negligence for which no liability may be imposed." *Id*.

The fact that Plaintiff's claims against BMH-NM are based on an alleged condition on its premises, or passive negligence, is undisputed. [R. 8 at ¶ 11]. As such, the simple negligence exception does not apply as a matter of law, and the trial court appropriately held that the duty owed by BMH-NM to Plaintiff was to refrain from causing willful or wanton injury to her.

Step 3: Breach

Summary judgment in favor of BMH-NM is appropriate regardless of whether BMH-NM owed a duty of ordinary reasonable care or duty to refrain from causing willful or wanton injury to Plaintiff.

(1) Plaintiff Cannot Prove Willful or Wanton Injury.

To constitute willful or wanton injury, 'something more is required to impose liability than mere inadvertence or lack of attention; there must be more or less extreme departure from ordinary standards of care, and conduct must differ in quality, as well as in degree, from ordinary negligence involving a conscious disregard of a known serious danger.'

Green, 919 So. 2d at 1006 (quoting Leffler v. Sharp, 891 So. 2d 152 (Miss. 2004)).

There is no evidence in the record of willful or wanton conduct by BMH-NM.

Plaintiff claims she was injured as a result of a condition on BMH-NM premises, liquid on the floor. [R. 8 at ¶ 11]. She claims BMH-NM "negligently failed to keep the floors staff [sic] from latent defects"; "failed to post a wet floor sign in an area that Defendants knew or should have known contained potentially dangerous liquid"; and "failed to maintain a proper lookout for ... this condition which caused the injuries herein complained of." [R. 8 at ¶ 12].

She makes no claim and has no evidence of any wanton or willful act by BMH-NM.

Further, this case does not involve a known trap, pitfall or other concealed danger. Plaintiff therefore cannot prove breach under <u>Marlon Inv. Co. v. Conner</u>, 149 So. 2d 312 (Miss. 1963).

To prove breach under <u>Marlon</u>, Plaintiff was required to show (a) the existence of a concealed, dangerous condition on the premises, (b) knowledge of the existence of such concealed dangerous condition by BMH-NM, and (c) failure by BMH-NM to exercise

reasonable care to see that Plaintiff was aware of the danger. 149 So. 2d at 316 (stating that a premises owner must "disclose to the licensee any concealed, dangerous conditions on the premises of which the owner has knowledge, and to exercise reasonable care to see that the licensee is aware of the danger").

Plaintiff failed to specify evidence of significant and probative value to prove breach under Marlon.

There is no evidence in the record that a concealed, dangerous condition existed on BMH-NM premises.

Plaintiff identified no evidence that the liquid on which she fell was concealed. Rather, she states, without citation to evidence in the record, "the water on the floor of the hospital in the instant case was concealed to Appellant Wilson, as it is a clear substance, not visible to the naked eye." (Appellant Brief at p. 14, \P 1). There is no evidence in the record to support the allegation. In fact, Plaintiff testified that she does not know whether the substance would have been visible to her prior to the fall had she been watching where she was going. [R. 175-176 at p. 117, 1. 24 – p. 118, 1. 5].

In <u>Marlon</u>, the premises owner "concealed" the dangerous condition by misleading the plaintiff with a lighted sign into the area of the premises where the dangerous condition existed.

149 So. 2d at 318; see <u>Adams</u>, 497 So. 2d at 1101 ("In essence, the misleading invitation in <u>Marlon</u> concealed the dangerous, unmaintained stairway.").

There is no evidence in the record of any such concealment in this case. Plaintiff's unsupported assertions are insufficient to withstand summary judgment.

Further, there is no evidence in the record that BMH-NM had knowledge of any liquid on

the floor prior to the fall. As such, BMH-NM could not have been aware of any "concealment" of the liquid.

This case therefore does not fall within the niche carved out in Marlon.

BMH-NM owed no duty to Plaintiff except not to willfully or wantonly injure her. Plaintiff has no evidence of willful or wanton injury. Summary judgment in favor of BMH-NM is therefore appropriate.

(2) Plaintiff Cannot Prove Failure by BMH-NM to Exercise Reasonable Care.

Even if this Court find BMH-NM owed Plaintiff a duty to exercise reasonable care for her safety, summary judgment in favor of BMH-NM is nevertheless appropriate because there is insufficient evidence in the record to show any failure by BMH-NM to exercise reasonable ordinary care.

Plaintiff claims BMH-NM was negligent in not cleaning liquid off of the floor or posting a warning sign. (See Appellant Brief at p. 16, \P 1).

The record contains no evidence that BMH-NM caused the liquid to be on the floor or had knowledge of the presence of the liquid prior to Plaintiff's fall. Further, even assuming BMH-NM did have knowledge of the liquid prior to the fall, which BMH-NM denies, Plaintiff has no evidence that BMH-NM had knowledge for a sufficient amount of time prior to the fall to clean the liquid off of the floor or communicate a warning to Plaintiff.

Plaintiff therefore cannot prove breach even if BMH-NM is held to the duty of ordinary and reasonable care. *See* Goodwin v. Gulf Transport Co., 453 So. 2d 1035, 1037 (Miss. 1984) (affirming summary judgment in favor of defendant bus company where the plaintiff failed to show that the liquid in which fell was put on the floor of the bus by an agent or employee of the

bus company or that the company had actual knowledge of the liquid and adequate time to clean it up prior to the fall).

Plaintiff's testimony that she was close to the nurse's station when she fell does not show that BMH-NM caused the condition or had knowledge of the condition for a sufficient amount of time prior to the fall to remove the condition or warn Plaintiff.

Summary judgment in favor of BMH-NM is therefore appropriate as a matter of law.

D. RESPONSE TO BRIEF OF AMICUS CURIAE

Issues and arguments not brought before the trial court cannot be raised appeal. Southern v. Miss. State Hosp., 853 So. 2d 1212, 1214-15 (Miss. 2003); Wilburn v. Wilburn, 991 So. 2d 1185, 1191 (Miss. 2008).

An amicus curiae cannot expand the scope of an appeal to implicate issues not presented to the parties on appeal. This Court will entertain amicus curiae briefs to the extent they are confined to the issues presented in the pleadings and developed before the trial court. *See* Burnside, 86 So. 2d at 334 ("[T]he Court would not be justified in entertaining amicus curiae briefs except to the extent they are confined to the issues presented in the pleadings and developed upon the trial of the case in the trial court."); World Wide Street Preachers Fellowship v. Town of Columbia, 591 F. 3d 747, 753 n. 3 (5th Cir. 2009) ("It is well settled in this circuit that 'an amicus curiae generally cannot expand the scope of an appeal to implicate issues that have not been presented by the parties to the appeal.' Accordingly, we will not consider the arguments raised only by the amicus curiae." (internal citations omitted)); Garcia-Melendez v. Ashcroft, 351 F.3d 657, 663 n.2 (5th Cir. 2003) ("It is well-settled in this circuit that 'an amicus curiae generally cannot expand the scope of an appeal to implicate issues that have not been

presented by the parties to the appeal.' Under this principle, we have held that a constitutional issue raised only by amici need not be considered. Thus, we decline to consider the arguments raised by [the amicus]." (internal citations omitted)); Resident Council of Allen Parkway Village v. U.S. Dep't of Housing & Urban Development, 980 F.2d 1043, 1049 (5th Cir. 1993) ("[A]n amicus curiae generally cannot expand the scope of an appeal to implicate issues that have not been presented by the parties to the appeal.").

Issues set forth by Plaintiff on appeal include:

- I. "Whether Appellant was a "public invitee" at the time of her injury...." (Appellant Brief at p. 5, Issue 1).
- II. "Whether if determined to be a licensee at the time of her injury, Appellant was owed a duty by Appellees to warn of dangerous conditions not likely to be discovered by Appellant, and to exercise reasonable care in conduct of activities; and thereby the breach of said duty proximately caused Appellant's injuries." (Appellant Brief at p. 5, Issue 2).
- III. "Whether Appellant is required to show proof of wanton or willful injury, if Appellees' actions fall under the simple or affirmative negligence exception to the general rule that the only duty owed a licensee is to refrain from willfully or wantonly injuring the individual." (Appellant Brief at p. 5, Issue 3).

The Amicus Curiae does not argue that Plaintiff was a public invitee, and it does not argue that if determined to be a licensee, Plaintiff fell within an exception to the general duty owed a licensee. Rather, the Brief of Amicus Curiae contains arguments and issues that were not presented by Plaintiff on appeal, including:

- 1. The argument that the issue of whether Plaintiff held the status of a licensee or invitee is an issue of first impression for this Court and reliance on laws of other jurisdictions, (Brief of Amicus Curiae at pp. 3-4);
- 2. The argument that this Case is analogous to Thomas v. Columbia Group, LLC, 969

So. 2d 849, 853 (Miss. 2007), a case involving injury to a visitor of a tenant at an apartment complex, and/or <u>Case v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc.</u>, 13 F. Supp. 2d 597 (S.D. Miss. 1998), involving duties owed by the owner of a business premises, Wal-Mart, to an individual who was assigned by her employer, a vendor, to do work on Wal-Mart premises pursuant to an arrangement between Wal-Mart and the vendor, (Brief of Amicus Curiae at pp. 7-8); and

3. The argument that Mississippi should abandon its current premises liability classification systems. (Brief of Amicus Curiae at pp. 8-14).

These arguments and issues are not properly before this Court and should not be entertained.

Even if this Court were to consider the arguments and issues raised by the Amicus Curiae, this Court should nevertheless affirm summary judgment in favor of BMH-NM.

(1) This case does not present an issue of first impression for the Court.

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